No. 22-cv-262 No. 22-cv-300

IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS



Capitol Intelligence Group, Inc., Peter K. Semler, Appellants/Cross-Appellees

v.

Gerald Waldman Appellee/Cross-Appellant

On appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia Civil Division, Case No. 18 CA 5052(B) (The Honorable Fern Flanagan Saddler)

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANTS/CROSS-APPELLEES CAPITOL INTELLIGENCE GROUP, INC. AND PETER K. SEMLER

ARIANA WOODSON 13621 Turnmore Rd. Silver Spring, MD 20906 240.374.2801 awoodson101@gmail.com MARK I. BAILEN*
MARK I. BAILEN P.C.
1250 Connecticut Avenue NW
Suite 700
Washington, D.C. 20036
(202) 656-0422
Mb@bailenlaw.com

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This appeal (22-cv-262) is an interlocutory appeal of orders denying (in part) a Special Motion to Dismiss under the D.C. Anti-SLAPP Act, D.C. Code § 16-5502(b) as permitted by *Competitive Enter. Inst v. Mann*, 150 A.3d 1213, 1228-30 (D.C. 2016) (as amended 2018).

Plaintiff-Appellee Gerald Waldman has cross-appealed (22-cv-300) seeking review of the orders to the extent they granted (in part) the Special Motion to Dismiss but there is no existing authority permitting an interlocutory appeal of an order granting a Special Motion to Dismiss (in whole or in part) under § 16-5502. Pursuant to this Court's order of July 5, 2022, the parties are to address the issue of whether this Court has jurisdiction to hear the cross-appeal (22-cv-300) in their briefs in this appeal. Defendants-Appellants contend there is no jurisdiction unless the Court reverses the denial of the Anti-SLAPP motion and dismisses all claims against them.

INTRODUCTION

This case implicates nothing less than the District of Columbia's commitment to "the principle that debate on public issues should be uninhibited, robust, and wide-open, and that it may well include vehement, caustic, and sometimes unpleasantly sharp attacks on government and public officials" and public figures. *New York Times Co. v. Sullivan*, 376 U.S. 254, 270 (1964); *see also Curtis Publishing Co. v. Butts*, 388 U.S. 130, 155 (1967). Few debates are more

consequential to the citizens in the District of Columbia than urban renewal, gentrification, and displacement of communities. Real estate developer and subprime lender Gerald Waldman's defamation and false light claims against Peter Semler, an award-winning journalist, and his company Capitol Intelligence Group, Inc. ("CIG"), are a blatant attempt to silence Semler for engaging in debate over, and for his protest of, Waldman's efforts to construct a nine-unit condominium building, with penthouse, that has now blocked the view of the iconic mural, *A Survivor's Journey*, in the Brookland neighborhood of Washington, D.C.

This case is a textbook example of a "SLAPP" – a Strategic Lawsuit Against Public Participation. Recognizing the chilling and intimidation effects such meritless lawsuits have on free speech and the First Amendment, the D.C. Council enacted the "Anti-SLAPP Act of 2010" to provide a clear path for the prompt dismissal of meritless claims that aim to silence debate and criticism on issues of public concern—claims precisely like those brought here. In denying the Anti-SLAPP motion below, the Superior Court (Saddler, J.) abdicated its role to "vigilantly stand guard against even the slight encroachments on the fundamental constitutional right of all citizens to speak out on public issues without fear of reprisal," *Myers v. Plan Takoma, Inc.*, 472 A.2d 44, 50 (D.C. 1983), thereby warranting this appeal.

An internationally renowned street artist created the mural *A Survivor's Journey*, which highlights the plight of abused women and maintains special

cultural significance in the Brookland neighborhood. Seeking to preserve the mural for the benefit of the community, Semler first attempted to purchase the building on which the mural is painted – a property which Waldman, through his lending practices, had forced into foreclosure. But Semler was unable to do so, either before foreclosure or after, despite Waldman's assurances otherwise, in part due to fraudulent conduct that occurred during the foreclosure and bankruptcy process of the building's seller. Semler reported this fraudulent conduct to the United States Trustee's Office (the "USTO"). Semler thereafter attended a community meeting in June 2018 where Waldman was advocating for the community's support for his condo development that would block the mural. Semler highlighted the damage the condo will have on the mural. Angered by Semler's opposition to the project and his somewhat harsh words and rhetoric, Waldman swiftly "slapped" back at Semler, filing this lawsuit less than a month later. Because Semler's expression of his views at the community meeting in June, which were recorded on video, and in a follow-up investigative op-ed article published online by CIG (the "Op ed"), constitute "act[s] in furtherance of the right of advocacy on issues of public interest," the Anti-SLAPP Act applies in this case.

This means that Waldman's claims only survive dismissal under the Act if he can demonstrate they are "likely to succeed on the merits." The Superior Court, relying on a paucity of evidence, incorrectly held that Waldman can discharge this burden. But Semler's comments at the June 2018 community meeting are protected

speech on a matter of public concern and, at most, constitute rhetorical hyperbole or non-actionable name-calling. Similarly, Semler's commentary in his Op-Ed does not rise to actionable statements of fact. While the Superior Court correctly found that Waldman easily satisfies the limited purpose public figure test—thereby requiring him to show proof by clear and convincing evidence that defendants published with actual malice—it did not identify any concrete evidence from which a jury could discern that Semler published with knowledge of falsity or reckless disregard of the truth. This Court must conduct an independent, de novo review of the evidence in the record which shows that Semler did not "fabricate" or otherwise misrepresent (knowingly or otherwise) his belief that the USTO was investigating the alleged fraud.

Waldman's retaliatory defamation claims against Semler and his company, CIG, are exactly what the Anti-SLAPP law was designed to vanquish: claims intended to burden and harass both a journalist whose reporting the plaintiff does not like and a local citizen defending his neighborhood against a ruthless developer focused on the bottom line at all costs. The Court should reverse the Superior Court's order and enter judgment in favor of Semler and CIG.

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the Superior Court err by not granting Defendants' special motion to dismiss under the D.C. Anti-SLAPP Act in its entirety where the Plaintiff failed to meet his burden of establishing that his defamation and false light claims are

"likely to succeed on the merits" because there were no false and defamatory statements of fact made with actual malice by Defendants-Appellants.

- 2. Did the Superior Court err in denying the motion for leave to file the August 26, 2020 Letter from the U.S. Trustee which contained relevant evidence that further supported the special motion to dismiss under the Anti-SLAPP Act?
- 3. Does this Court have jurisdiction to hear the cross-appeal seeking review of an order granting in part a special motion to dismiss under the Anti-SLAPP Act, and if so, whether the Superior Court correctly dismissed the claims for defamation and false light in the Complaint based on a publication that was published beyond the statute of limitations period?
- 4. If there is jurisdiction for the cross-appeal, then whether the Superior Court has "discretion" to disregard the clear statutory language in D.C. Code § 15-703 requiring the court to fix time for plaintiff to comply with requirement that he post security to allow underlying action to proceed.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Complaint and Anti-SLAPP Motion

On July 16, 2018, Waldman filed this defamation and false light action against Semler and CIG alleging that Semler's commentary in videos published on January 14, 2017 and June 19, 2018, and in an Op-Ed published on June 24, 2018, by CIG was false and defamatory or placed him in a false light.

On November 16, 2018, Semler and CIG moved to dismiss the action under

the D.C. Anti-SLAPP Act, or in the alternative, under Rule 12(b)(6), Superior Court Rules of Civil Procedure. Waldman opposed the motion on December 17, 2018 and Semler and CIG filed a reply on January 10, 2019. Consistent with what has become a pattern in this case of seeking to increase defendants' litigation costs, Waldman filed a motion on January 18, 2019 seeking to strike portions of the defendants' opposition and accompanying exhibits (which showed that, contrary to Waldman's verified Complaint claiming he was not involved in the development project at issue, his company is listed as "owner" on various DCRA permits for the project) or alternatively to file a sur-reply. On February 4, 2019, the Superior Court granted the alternative relief allowing a sur-reply in which Waldman attempted to explain the glaring inconsistencies between his pleading and the evidence.

B. Initial Anti-SLAPP Hearing and Limited Discovery

On February 5, 2019, the Superior Court held a hearing on the motion. The Honorable Fern Flanagan Saddler first ruled that defendants' motion in the alternative, under Rule 12(b)(6), is denied. (JA 582.)² The Court then held the Anti-SLAPP motion in "abeyance" to allow for limited discovery on the following matters: "One, as to whether plaintiff is a limited purpose public figure; and two, as to whether plaintiff was under investigation by the United States Trustees at the time of defendant's statements alleging such as well as to whether defendant has actual knowledge of such information." (JA 598.)

-

² References to "JA" refer to the Joint Appendix submitted with this Brief.

The parties proceeded with limited discovery pursuant to the Court's order. Defendants served a subpoena on the U.S Trustees Office ("USTO") for documents relating to the complaint that Semler and his lawyer at the time, Benny Kass, had made to the Office, and the investigation thereof. Around the same time, Plaintiff, through his litigation counsel and their partner, Marc Albert, conducted a secret meeting with the USTO during which his counsel convinced the USTO attorneys to prepare and submit affidavits. (JA 696 at ¶6.)

The USTO produced documents in response to subpoena including communications from Semler seeking updates on the investigation into Waldman and others, as well as internal communications among the USTO attorneys who would later submit affidavits. (JA 628-642.) As defendants believed these communications were dispositive of "whether plaintiff was under investigation by the United States Trustees at the time of defendant's statements alleging such," they filed for leave to file the documents with the Court. Shortly thereafter, the USTO claimed work product protection over the internal communications (meaning the documents were "made in anticipation of litigation or for trial." Sup. Ct. R. Civ. Pro. 26(b)(3)), and sought to claw them back. At USTO's request, defendants moved to seal the documents filed with the Court.

Although the Court expressly allowed discovery into "whether defendant has actual knowledge of [whether plaintiff was under investigation by the United States Trustee]," Waldman did not seek to depose either Semler or CIG, or request

any documents or other materials from them.³

C. Order on Anti-SLAPP Motion

The parties submitted supplemental briefs on July 23 and 30, 2019 and the Court heard argument at a second Anti-SLAPP motion hearing on August 23, 2019. The Superior Court then announced its ruling on the Anti-SLAPP motion at a hearing on November 14, 2019, and issued a written order on November 19.

The Superior Court first *sua sponte* reversed its earlier order denying the Rule 12(b)(6) motion (asserted in the alternative) and instead granted the motion as to the first of the three publications—the January 2017 video—for being time barred under the statute of limitations. (JA 6.) The order then denied the Anti-SLAPP motion in its entirety. While the Superior Court correctly found that defendants made the prima facie showing that the Anti-SLAPP Act applies (JA 6) and also correctly concluded that Waldman is a limited purpose public figure (JA 9-10), it erred in holding that Waldman could meet his burden of showing that a jury could reasonably find in his favor on claims based on the June 19, 2018 video and the June 24, 2018 Op Ed. (JA 8-11.) The Superior Court failed to examine Semler's actual words in the June 19 video in context and instead relied on the Complaint's inaccurate characterizations of what was said. The ruling also misapplied the actual malice standard – applying a reasonableness test (*i.e.*

³ At a hearing on May 13, 2019, the Superior Court ruled that defendants were not entitled to limited discovery—only plaintiff—as discovery is intended to assist plaintiff with meeting his burden under the second prong of the Anti-SLAPP Act.

negligence) instead of the heightened actual malice standard as set forth by the Supreme Court and this Court. (JA 8.) The Superior Court also failed to identify clear and convincing evidence that defendants published with actual malice and ignored affirmative evidence to the contrary.

D. Reconsideration

Seven days later, on November 26, 2019, defendants filed a motion for reconsideration. Waldman opposed on December 10, 2019 and defendants filed a reply on December 13, 2019. The reconsideration motion identified errors of fact and law, including that the Superior Court ignored the USTO's assertion of work product which indicated that it was anticipating litigation in connection with the complaint submitted by Semler. The motion alternatively sought the unsealing of the USTO emails and their consideration by the Court on the motion. At a February 21, 2020 hearing, the Superior Court set an oral argument date for the motion for May 20, 2020. Once again, Waldman requested the opportunity to submit additional briefing (even though the motion had been fully briefed). The Superior Court acquiesced. As his filing included new arguments that Waldman forgot to raise in his earlier opposition, defendants had to prepare and file a reply on March 4, 2020. The hearing was then rescheduled (due to Covid outbreak) for August 19, 2020 and the Superior Court took the motion under advisement.

E. New Evidence

Following the August 19 hearing, Semler received a letter from the USTO responding to his letter sent in April 2019 to then Attorney General William Barr to inquire about the status of the Waldman investigation. The letter, dated August 26, 2020, and signed by Acting U.S. Trustee for Region 4 William Fitzgerald, refers to the "complaints of bankruptcy fraud made by [Semler] to the Alexandria and Baltimore field offices regarding Gerald Waldman in *The Brookland Inn* case ..." and states that "The United States Trustee does not comment upon the status of investigations of bankruptcy fraud." (JA 894b.) Defendants sought leave on September 3, 2020 to file the letter as new evidence in further support of Semler's subjective belief in the truth of his statements. Waldman opposed.

F. Motion to Fix Security

The motion for reconsideration (and the subsequent motion to supplement the record) remained pending for more than a year, by which time Waldman had sold his Watergate condominium and moved permanently to West Palm Beach, Florida. Concerned about the mounting costs and expenses of this litigation (the protection against was an important consideration for the D.C. Council in enacting the Anti-SLAPP Act) and the fact that Waldman had now fled the jurisdiction, defendants sought to avail themselves of the rights conferred under D.C. Code § 15-703 which provides that the defendant may request that a nonresident plaintiff "to give security for costs and charges that may be adjudged against him."

Waldman refused to post security, which required defendants to file a motion on October 25, 2021 for the court to fix the security amount. Waldman opposed.

G. Omnibus Order

On March 16, 2022, the Superior Court (Saddler, J.) issued an "Omnibus Order" addressing the outstanding motions.⁴ She revised her earlier order on the Rule 12(b)(6) motion and instead granted the Anti-SLAPP motion in part (dismissing the time-barred claim based on the January 2017 publication) and denied it in part (on the June 2018 publications) mostly for reasons set forth in her earlier order. (JA 26-27.) She also denied the motion to supplement the record with the U.S. Trustee's August 26, 2020 letter, based on alleged representations made by counsel at a non-existent hearing and denied the motions to unseal the USTO's emails and to fix time for plaintiff to comply with security requirement, claiming (contrary to the statute) that she had discretion to do so. (JA 22, 28-29.)

Defendants filed a timely appeal on April 8, 2022. Plaintiff cross-appealed the ruling granting the Anti-SLAPP motion in part on April 20, 2022.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Defendant Peter Semler – D.C. Resident, Community Activist, and Investigative Journalist with Decades of Experience and Accolades.

Semler is a resident and fourth generation native of the District of Columbia.

He has been an active, working journalist for over three decades and gained best

⁴ On January 1, 2022, the Honorable Maurice Ross took over Civil Calendar 6 from Judge Saddler but Judge Saddler issued the March 16, 2022 ruling.

practice experience at City News Bureau of Chicago, Journal of Commerce, CNN, Bloomberg Business, CBS 60 Minutes, and as a founder and editor of the online publication Mergermarket, a product of the Financial Times. He has received the Scoop of Year (UK) award for travelling as an undercover illegal immigrant from Albania to the United Kingdom for the London Sunday Times. (JA 123.)

Semler is also an active and vocal member in his Brookland neighborhood in Northeast, Washington, D.C. Recognized as a "community activist" by Peter Saba of the District of Columbia's Office of Attorney General, among others, Semler has been pro-active in preserving neighborhood landmarks such as Howard University Divinity School Campus, working with then Metropolitan Police Department Chief Peter Newsham on community safety and security issues in the Brookland neighborhood, and, particularly relevant to this case, attempting to save the landmark mural *A Survivor's Journey*. (JA 124.) (Mural at JA 461.)



District of Columbia government and the District Alliance for Safe Housing (DASH), the mural was created in 2010 by internationally renowned street artist Joel

Bergner, also known as Joel

Commissioned by the

Artista. The mural is painted on a wall on the south side of the Brookland Inn &

Café, overlooking the parking lot at 3736 12th Street N.E., and therefore, prior to the development spearheaded by Waldman. it could be seen by anyone heading north on 12th Street in the Brookland neighborhood. The mural shows an African-American woman looking into a brighter, more positive place and turning her back on the dark scene behind her. It signifies the plight of abused women and the journey they take to better circumstances in their lives, free from the mistreatment they once experienced.⁵

Semler owns and operates defendant CIG, a Delaware corporation doing business as a financial news media group in Washington as "Capitol Intelligence Group -Turning Swords into Equity" and "Black Business News" ("BBN").

(JA 461 (photo of mural prior to construction of Waldman's development).)



CIG covers global and domestic business deals and financial news. For example,

⁵

⁵ Peter Semler, CI View: DC's new Vandals Jerry Waldman and Lindsay Reishman set to destroy Black feminist mural #Brookland (https://capitolintelgroup.com/ci-view-dc-new-vandals-jerry-waldman-and-larry-reishman-set-to-destroy-black-feminist-mural-brookland/) (last updated April 17, 2023).

domestically, CIG has investigated and reported on Community Reinvestment Act ("CRA") credits that are available to developers but have often been abused, an issue that can have a direct impact on local communities. (JA 124-25.)

B. Plaintiff Gerald Waldman - Controversial Real Estate Developer

Waldman is a "legal" resident of Florida. He claims to come to the District on "frequent business trips" as he "continues to own real property and business interests therein" and, at the time of the filing of this lawsuit, maintained a "condo" residence at the Watergate. He describes himself as a "property developer who has purchased and developed real estate in the Washington, D.C. metro area for over forty years." (JA 31 (Compl. ¶¶ 1, 7).)

Waldman regularly engages with the public by attending community gatherings and meetings with politicians to convince the public and elected officials to support his development projects. (JA 32.) He also has been involved in numerous controversies and disputes relating to his "real property and business interests," which has often led to litigation in the District of Columbia courts⁶

_

⁶ A search of the dockets in the District of Columbia Superior Court and Maryland courts show over a dozen lawsuits involving Gerald Waldman. (*See* JA 154, 156.) In 2008, for instance, Independence Federal Savings Bank, a one-time leading community bank founded and managed by local African Americans, sued Waldman alleging that he attempted to cheat the bank out of its rightful priority position on a lien. *See Independence Federal Savings Bank v. Waldman et al.*, 2008 CA 005055, filed July 15, 2008, D.C. Superior Court. Waldman also has sued local attorney Donald Temple over alleged breach of a loan agreement. Temple struggled with repayment while battling cancer and suffering from a pulmonary embolism. *See Waldman v. Temple*, 2013 CA 005658 B, filed August 19, 2013, D.C. Superior Court and transcripts Volume II of II of Temple Test. 6:16-23, filed

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