No. 22-CV-00262 No. 22-CV-00300

IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS



Clerk of the Court Received 06/10/2024 04:27 PM Resubmitted 06/10/2024 05:05 PM Resubmitted 06/11/2024 10:41 AM Resubmitted 06/11/2024 03:52 PM

GERALD WALDMAN,

Appellee/Cross-Appellant,

v.

CAPITOL INTELLIGENCE GROUP, INC., ET AL.,

Appellants/Cross-Appellees. Civil Action No.: 2018 CA 005052 B

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT GERALD WALDMAN

STINSON LLP

Michael E. Tucci (DC Bar No.: 430470) Brandon R. Nagy (DC Bar No.: 1024717) 1775 Pennsylvania Ave., NW

Suite 800

Washington, D.C. 20006

Tel.: (202) 785-9100 Fax: (202) 572-9950

michael.tucci@stinson.com brandon.nagy@stinson.com

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

Despite the finality of the partial grant of the Anti-SLAPP motion to dismiss, Semler argues that the "purpose behind the Anti-SLAPP Act" is solely to protect "defendants and free speech," but Waldman is a plaintiff. [Br. at 47-48] That purpose

is not impinged by allowing interlocutory appeal of a partial grant of the Anti-SLAPP Act. Moreover, recognizing that the grant of the special motion to dismiss is final serves the underlying purpose of the "final order" rule. "The requirement of finality serves the important policy goals of preventing the unnecessary delays resultant from piecemeal appeals and refrain[ing] from deciding issues which may eventually be mooted by the final judgment." *Rolinski v. Lewis*, 828 A.2d 739, 745 (D.C. 2003) (internal quotations omitted). Here, Semler's failed special motion to dismiss already caused six years of delay. And now, Semler has filed an interlocutory appeal over the denial of their special motion to dismiss.

Therefore, if this Court deems that the grant of the special motion is not final, then there will be a piecemeal appeal that wastes even more judicial and party resources. Indeed, if this Court were to deny jurisdiction over the cross-appeal and then reverse the Superior Court as Semler requests—and it should not—then the appellate proceedings would be serial as the current cross-appeal would immediately follow. Nor will a decision on the subject of the cross-appeal—the Askale Café claim Waldman did not actually bring—ever be potentially mooted by a later, final judgment in the Superior Court on the 2018 defamation claims Waldman did bring and for which the Superior Court denied the special motion to dismiss. Accordingly, this Court should follow its opinion in *Mann* and recognize its jurisdiction over Waldman's cross-appeal from the grant of the special motion to dismiss.

Second, the Court has jurisdiction to hear the cross-appeal under the collateral order doctrine, which provides that "[s]ome trial court rulings that do not conclude the litigation nonetheless are sufficiently conclusive in other respects that they satisfy the finality requirement of our jurisdictional statute." *Rolinski v. Lewis*, 828 A.2d 739, 746 (D.C. 2003). This Court "follow[s] the Supreme Court in recognizing a 'small class' of orders that fall within this category:

that small class which finally determine claims of right separable from, and collateral to, rights asserted in the action, too important to be denied review and too independent of the cause itself to require that appellate consideration be deferred until the whole case is adjudicated.

Id. (citing *Cohen v. Beneficial Indus. Loan Corp.*, 337 U.S. 541, 546 (1949)). "Under the so called 'collateral order' doctrine, orders in this small class are immediately appealable to this court even though they do not terminate the action in the trial court." *Id.*

In *Mann*, this Court extensively examined the Anti-SLAPP special motion to dismiss and the collateral order doctrine, and held that a non-final order denying a special motion to dismiss meets all of the criteria of the collateral order doctrine. *Mann*, 150 A.3d at 1227-30. This Court's analysis of conclusivity, separability, unreviewability, and substantial public interest, *id.* at 1228-32, are all equally applicable to the grant of a special motion to dismiss. The only difference is that here the core issue is from the plaintiff's perspective, and involves not the merits of the claims, but whether the plaintiff must immediately participate in burdensome fee

shifting proceedings under the Anti-SLAPP statute despite successfully defeating the rest of the special motion to dismiss. In this way, the denial of a special motion and the grant are two sides of the same coin, and therefore the collateral order doctrine grants appellate jurisdiction for each.

Third, the Court has jurisdiction over the cross-appeal under its pendent jurisdiction. This Court looks for at least one of three criteria when exercising pendent jurisdiction:

(1) whether the nonappealable issue is inextricably intertwined with the immediately appealable issue; (2) whether review of the nonappealable issue would be necessary to ensure meaningful review of the appealable issue; and (3) whether the nonappealable issue is so closely related to the appealable issue, or turn[s] on such similar issues, that a single appeal should dispose of both simultaneously' and, in some cases, [would] terminate the entire proceeding without a second appeal[.]"

D.C. v. Simpkins, 720 A.2d 894, 900 (D.C. 1998) (internal emphasis, quotations, and citations omitted).

Here, all three criteria are met. First, the appeal and cross-appeal both involve the Anti-SLAPP special motion to dismiss and the construction of Waldman's Verified Complaint. Second, reviewing the cross-appeal involves examining the allegations and evidence of Semler's years of hostility, harassment, and false statements. This Court will conduct such review to meaningfully review the denial of the special motion subject to Semler's appeal. Third, the review of the appeal and cross-appeal issues will involve the same record from the Superior Court and, depending on this Court's decision, could terminate the entire proceeding without

the need for a second appeal. Accordingly, the Court has pendent jurisdiction over the cross-appeal.

b. Waldman Did Not Plead This Claim—the Superior Court Erred in Dismissing a Nonexistent Claim.

As is common, Waldman organized his Verified Complaint chronologically. [Ver. Compl., JA 30] First, Waldman describes numerous instances of harassment and false statements by Semler dating back years. [*Id.*] The historic harassment, such as when Semler accosted Waldman at the Askale Café in January 2017 [JA 35-36, ¶¶ 30-35], provides context to help evaluate the private and malicious nature of Defendants' subsequent false and defamatory publications.

Waldman, however, bases his defamation and false light claims not on every potentially defamatory statement published by the Defendants over the years, but only on several specifically identified false accusations of "fraud, corruption, and being the subject of a criminal investigation by the U.S. Trustee and Department of Justice[.]" [JA 43, ¶72 (Count I Defamation – Libel & Slander)] Waldman organized these specific libelous statements into two groups subtitled "Defendants **Defame** Waldman at Public Meeting" and "Defendants Repeatedly Publish the **Defamatory** Statements", which allege the Defendants' publications at a June 19, 2018 BNCA meeting and online repeatedly thereafter. [JA 36-41, ¶¶36-64 (emphasis added)]

Despite the clear subtitles and obvious context within the Verified Complaint, Semler argues that Waldman's use of the ubiquitous paragraph "incorporat[ing] by reference" the allegations of "the preceding paragraphs" in the defamation count [JA 43, ¶71] somehow created a claim by Waldman of defamation predicated on Semler's 2017 harassment of Waldman in the Askale Café. [Br. at 47-49] Any such reading of the Verified Complaint is clearly an error. That section of the Verified Complaint is even subtitled "Defendants **Accost** Waldman in a Café and Accuse Him of Mortgage Fraud" [JA 35], in stark contrast to the "Defame" and "Defamatory" subtitles of the operative libelous publications later in the Verified Complaint.

Nonetheless, in their Special Motion to Dismiss, Defendants erected the strawman claim and argued that Semler's harassment of Waldman in the Askale Café in 2017 is outside the statute of limitations for a defamation claim. [JA 110-12] To stamp out any potential confusion, at the first possible opportunity (his response brief), Waldman disavowed claiming defamation from that incident and explained that his claims were "based upon the June 19, 2018 oral statements at the BNCA meeting and the subsequent 'CI View' written statements" [JA 306-07 (Resp. to Mot. to Dismiss, filed Dec. 17, 2018]. Waldman did not attempt to articulate or defend a claim based upon the 2017 harassment [see id.] including at oral argument on February 5, 2019. [See JA 543 (hearing transcript)]

That the 2017 Askale Café incident was not thereafter briefed or argued by either party as being the basis of a separate defamation claim [see, e.g., JA 604 (Defs.' Supplemental Br., Jul. 23, 2019)], or further argued at the subsequent hearings on May 13 or August 23, 2019, proves that the Defendants understood that Waldman did not plead such a claim in the Verified Complaint. Accordingly, the Superior Court erred by granting the Anti-SLAPP motion to dismiss as to this nonexistent claim.

c. Any Such Claim Was Moot After Waldman Disclaimed It, and the Superior Court Should Not Have Decided It.

To the extent the Verified Complaint, could be construed as pleading a defamation claim based on the 2017 Askale Café harassment (and it should not be), that claim became moot when Waldman disavowed bringing it. "A case is moot when the issues presented are no longer 'live' or the parties lack 'a legally cognizable interest in the outcome.' This includes when the court is asked to decide only abstract or academic issues." *Classic CAB v. D.C. Dep't of For-Hire Vehicles*, 244 A.3d 703, 705 (D.C. 2021) (quotations omitted)

¹³ The Defendants' revival of a challenge to the non-existent claim in their motion for reconsideration was a *post hac* attempt to rewrite the record for the **sole** purpose of providing Defendants grounds to seek attorneys' fees under the Anti-SLAPP Statute. [JA 776 (Mot. for Reconsideration at 7)] At the time they filed their motion to set security, Defendants absurdly claimed \$40,000 in attorneys' fees attributable to "dismissing" this never-pleaded claim. This Court should not tolerate Defendants' naked gamesmanship.

Once Waldman committed on the record—in his response brief and again reiterated at oral argument—the question of whether a (non-existent) claim related to the 2017 incident is time-barred and subject to dismissal under the Special Motion Dismiss became "only abstract or academic".

Mootness matters because it is jurisdictional: "mootness is 'a threshold question of law that must be resolved prior to, and independently of, the merits of the case." *L.S. v. D.C. Dep't on Disability Servs.*, 285 A.3d 165, 172 n.10 (D.C. 2022) (quoting *B.J. v. R.W.*, 266 A.3d 213, 215 (D.C. 2021)). "Mootness and standing are related concepts in that, generally speaking . . . , the requisite interest that 'must exist at the commencement of the litigation (standing) must continue throughout its existence (mootness)." *Id.* (quoting *Welsh v. McNeil*, 162 A.3d 135, 144-45 (D.C. 2017) (Glickman, J., concurring in part)). Therefore, the Superior Court clearly erred when it granted dismissal of the moot (and non-existent) claim under the Anti-SLAPP Act instead of as moot. Accordingly, this Court should reverse the partial grant of Defendants' Special Motion to Dismiss.

III. The Court Should Not Disturb the Superior Court's Denial of Semler's Motion to Set Security.

Semler argues that "if there is jurisdiction on the cross-appeal, the court should then reverse the order denying" Semler's motion to set security pursuant to D.C. Code § 15-703(a). [Br. at 49-50] Not so.

First, this Court lacks jurisdiction to review that order because Semler did not include it within his notice of appeal, which specified that Semler's interlocutory appeal of the March 16, 2022 Omnibus Order was only "insofar as the orders denied Defendants' Special Motion to Dismiss under the D.C. Anti-SLAPP Act and related requests for relief." [Semler Notice of Appeal, Apr. 8, 2022] Under D.C. R. App. P. 3(c)(6), if the appellant "designate[s] only part of a judgment or appealable order by expressly stating that the notice of appeal is so limited[,]" then the scope of the appeal is so limited. See Flax v. Schertler, 935 A.2d 1091, 1099 (D.C. 2007) ("It is correct that if an appellant chooses to designate specific determinations in his notice of appeal—rather than simply appealing from the entire judgment—only the specified issues may be raised on appeal.") (internal quotation omitted); D.C. Metro. Police Dep't v. Fraternal Ord. of Police/Metro. Police Dep't Lab. Comm., 997 A.2d 65, 70 (D.C. 2010) (explaining that the "notice of appeal is a jurisdictional requirement.").

Second, the Omnibus Order is not a final judgment or order, and therefore the ruling on the motion to set security therein is not appealable. Neither the collateral order doctrine nor pendent jurisdiction are availing because the motion to set security lacks finality and is unrelated in substance or law to the interlocutory appeal and cross-appeal of the orders on the Anti-SLAPP motion.

<u>Third</u>, as to the merits, the statute plainly provides the Superior Court discretion to set the amount of a deposit—necessarily including an amount of zero:

"The security required may be by an undertaking, with security, **to be approved by the court**, or by a deposit of money **in an amount fixed by the court**." D.C. Code § 15-703(a) (emphasis added). Semler misquotes ¹⁴ *Landise v Mauro*, 141 A.3d 1067, 1075 (D.C. 2016) for the proposition that this court "has held" that requiring a security is mandatory. *Landise* has no such holding; it examines and holds the statute is neither unconstitutional ¹⁵ on its face or as applied to that particular nonresident plaintiff whom assets were wholly outside the District. *Id.* at 1074-1077. Here, in contrast to *Landise*, Semler did not—and could not—show that Waldman has no assets in the District from which to collect a judgment for costs if Semler ultimately prevails. [*See* JA 915-26 (Waldman Resp. to Semler's Mot. (explicating facts with cites to record evidence))] Thus, the Superior Court did not abuse its discretion.

Fourth, the statute applies only to taxable costs, not attorneys' fees. D.C. Code § 15-703(a). Semler makes no argument on this point in his brief [Br. at 49-50], and has waived it. Moreover, Semler's request that the Superior Court require

_

¹⁴ Semler's supposed quotes are from the Westlaw headnote (and even then one is misquoted), **not** the Court's opinion, and relate only to the Court stating the text of the statute.

¹⁵ Landise challenged the constitutionality under the Privileges and Immunities Clause of Article IV, Section 2 of the Constitution, or, alternatively, in violation of the Privileges and Immunities Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. Both clauses prevent states from discriminating against citizens of other states. *Landise*, 141 A.3d at 1074.

Waldman to deposit hundreds of thousands of dollars in attorneys' fees and speculative future costs **is** unconstitutional under the privileges and immunities clause. Including hundreds of thousands of speculative attorneys' fees merely because of the potential fee-shifting under the Anti-SLAPP statute would slam the courthouse door on all but the most deep-pocketed of nonresident defamation plaintiffs. Additionally, the District's justification of the statute—"to avoid a situation in which a successful defendant, usually a District resident, is compelled to file suit in a foreign jurisdiction in order to collect costs awarded him here", *Landise*, 141 A.3d at 1077—is inapplicable to Waldman who has assets in the District, and therefore the statute would be unconstitutional if applied. Accordingly, the Court should not reverse the Superior Court's denial of Semler's motion to set security.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should (1) reverse the Superior Court's March 2022 Omnibus Order with respect to its dismissal under the Anti-SLAPP Act of the nonexistent claim based on Semler's 2017 statements and instead order that such a claim was either never brought or was mooted by Waldman's disclaimer of said claim; (2) affirm the Superior Court's March 2022 Omnibus Order in all other respects; and, (3) remand this action to the Superior Court for further proceedings on the merits of Waldman's claims.